RECEIVED

11-23-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

2 22 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2		
Case No. 2015AP1838-CR		
STATE OF WISCONSIN,		
Plaintiff-Respondent, v.		
ΓΙΜΟΤΗΥ A. GIESE,		
Defendant-Appellant.		
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF		

MILLER APPELLATE PRACTICE, LLC

Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant By Steven L. Miller #1005582 P.O. Box 655 River Falls, WI 54022 (715) 425-9780

On appeal from the Circuit Court of Brown County, Hon. Thomas J. Walsh, Circuit Judge, presiding.

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

1. Is an OWI Second conviction void for lack of criminal subject matter jurisdiction when the complaint, on its face, failed to allege a prior qualifying offense?

The Trial Court Answered: "No."

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are not requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 22, 2009, Giese was arrested for operating while intoxicated. On May 29, 2009, a criminal complaint was filed charging Giese with an OWI Second. It alleged as follows:

Count 1: OPERATING A MOTOR VEHICLE WHILE INTOXICATED – 2^{ND} OFFENSE

The above-named defendant on or about Sunday, March 22, 2009, in the Village of Allouez, Brown County, Wisconsin, did operate a motor vehicle on a highway while under the influence of an intoxicant, contrary to sec. 346.63(1)(a), 346.65(2)(am)2 Wis. Stats., a Misdemeanor, and upon conviction shall, *for the second offense within ten* (10) years, be fined not less than Three Hundred and Fifty Dollars (\$350) nor more than Eleven Hundred Dollars (\$1,100), and imprisonment for not less than five (5) days nor more than six (6) months.

(Emphasis added) (1:1; Appendix ("A:"): p. 6)¹. The complaint then further alleged:

Pursuant to 343.44(2g), the defendant is subject to the mandatory minimums *because he was convicted of Operating while intoxicated on 12/18/1989 with offense date(s) of 12/04/1989* and suspended as a result.

(Emphasis added) (1:2; A:7). On October 13, 2009, Giese entered a no contest plea and was convicted. He was sentenced to 20 days in jail. (13).

On March 12, 2015, Giese filed a motion to void the judgment because the circuit court lacked the *criminal* subject matter jurisdiction necessary to enter a judgment of conviction. (15). At the time the complaint was filed, the prior qualifying offense had to be less than 10 years old. Wis. Stats. § 346.65(2)(am)2 (2007-2008). (A:9). The state conceded the case should not have been charged as a criminal offense.

¹ The complaint also alleged a PAC violation with similar language. (1:1)

(19:2; A:2). On June 9, 2015, the circuit court issued a written decision denying Giese's motion to void the judgment. (19:1-4; A:1-4). While the circuit court agreed the case should not have been charged as a criminal offense and further, the court "may not have specifically had *criminal* subject matter jurisdiction[,]" it nonetheless still had "authority to hear the case." (Emphasis original). The complaint "still alleges an offense: first offense OWI." (19:2, 3; A:2, 3). Therefore, the judgment of conviction was not void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The circuit court did "believe" it was "appropriate to reopen the case," however, and offered to amend the judgment to a first offense if Giese agreed to do so. (19:4; A:4). Giese declined and the circuit court entered a final order on July 31, 2015, denying his motion. (20; A:5). On September 3, 2015, Giese filed a notice of appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION IS VOID BECAUSE THE CIRCUIT COURT LACKED CRIMINAL SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION.

Criminal subject-matter jurisdiction is the "power of the court to inquire into the charged crime, to apply the applicable law and to declare the punishment." *State v. Aniton*, 183 Wis. 2d 125, 129, 515 N.W.2d 302 (1994). The circuit court's subject-matter jurisdiction attaches when the complaint is filed. *Id.* A complaint "which charges no offense is jurisdictionally defective and void and the defect cannot be waived by a guilty plea; the court does not have jurisdiction." *State v. Bush*, 2005 WI 103, ¶¶16, 18, 283 Wis. 2d 90, 699 N.W.2d 80, citing *Champlain v. State*, 53 Wis.2d 751, 753, 193 N.W.2d 868 (1972), and *State v. Lampe*, 26 Wis. 2d 646, 648, 133 N. W. 2d 349 (1965) ("If the defendant is correct that no offense is charged then the court had no jurisdiction to proceed to judgment.").²

² The "criminal subject-matter jurisdiction" Giese refers to in this brief in not the plenary authority granted by Article VII, Section 8 of the Wisconsin Constitution, which vests all circuit courts with jurisdiction to hear "all matters civil and criminal within this state[,]" but the "circuit court's ability to *exercise* the subject matter jurisdiction vested in it." (Emphasis original). *Vill*.

A void charge "cannot sustain a verdict or a sentence based on it." State v. Schneider, 60 Wis. 2d 563, 567, 211 N.W.2d 630 (1973). A void proceeding is null and void, "as if it never took place." City of Kenosha v. Jensen, 184 Wis.2d 91, 99, 516 N.W.2d 4 (1994). A void judgment "cannot be validated by consent, ratification, waiver, or estoppel." Kohler Co. v. DILHR, 81 Wis.2d 11, 25, 259 N.W.2d 695, 701 (1977). In addition, a void judgment is not subject to the limitations of Wis. Stat. § 974.06 but may be vacated at any time. Jensen, at 98; State v. Michaels, 142 Wis. 2d 172, 177, 417 N.W.2d 415 (Ct. App. 1987). Whether a judgment is void for lack of jurisdiction is a question of law. Kett v. Community Credit Plan, Inc., 222 Wis. 2d 117, 128, 586 N.W.2d 68 (Ct. App. 1998), affd, 228 Wis. 2d 1, 596 N.W.2d 786 (1999).

A complaint must allege a "crime known to law" in order to confer jurisdiction. Lampe, at 648. A complaint does not allege "a crime known to law" when it fails to allege facts necessary to meet an essential jurisdictional element. State v. Dreske, 88 Wis.2d 60, 27-30, 276 N.W.2d 324 (Ct. App. 1979).

In *Dreske*, for example, the facts alleged did not satisfy the elements of the crime. The defendant was accused of laundering campaign contributions and, among other counts, was charged with violating Wis. Stat. §11.24(1). Wis. Stat. §11.24(1) prohibits a person from furnishing funds or property to another "for the purpose of making a contribution in other than his own name." The allegations were that Dreske went to a bank and purchased a cashier's check in the amount of \$450 from A.H. Krueger, a bank employee. The check was made payable to the Republican Senate Committee. Dreske used the check to purchase tickets to a political fund raiser, listing nine individuals as purchasers (including Susan Daw). Id. Count 6 of the information alleged that:

of Trempealeau v. Mikrut, 2004 WI 79, ¶9 273 Wis. 2d 76, 681 N.W.2d 190. A circuit court with general "subject matter jurisdiction" may still lack "competency" to render a valid order or judgment in a particular case. *Id.* This type of "competency," however, cannot be waived. *Bush*, 2005 WI 103, ¶¶16, 18.

...during the middle of September, 1974, in the County of Milwaukee, State of Wisconsin, the defendant George Dreske, as party to a crime, did intentionally and feloniously directly furnish funds to another person, A. H. Krueger, for the purpose of making a contribution in other than his own name, to wit: in the name of Susan Daw, contrary to Wisconsin statutes sections 11.24(1), 11.61(1) (a) and 939.05.

Dreske, at 27-28. Dreske argued the judgment was void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because the information failed to allege a crime. The court of appeals agreed. The only funds he transferred were to a bank teller in exchange for a cashier's check: "Transferring funds to a bank teller for whatever nefarious purpose, unaccompanied by any other conduct, is not a crime under sec. 11.24(1)." *Id.*, at 29. Therefore, the information did "not charge acts which are criminal under the laws of Wisconsin." *Id.* As the information failed to charge a crime, the judgment was void:

An information charging no offense is insufficient to bestow jurisdiction on a court. It is defective and void. No verdict or sentence can be based on it. *Champlain v. State*, 53 Wis.2d 751, 754, 193 N.W.2d 868 (1972). A material element of the crime designated in sec. 11.24(1) is absent. The convictions on counts 6 and 7 must accordingly be reversed.

Id., at $29.^3$

In *Champlain v. State*, 53 Wis.2d 751, 753, 193 N.W.2d 868 (1972), the defendant was charged with armed burglary pursuant to Wis. Stat. §943.32(1). The information failed to allege that Champlain "in taking the property used any force to overcome the owner's resistance or that he took the property by threatening the imminent use of force against the owner." *Champlain*, at 753. The Wisconsin Supreme Court agreed with Champlain that the information failed to

³ See also *Mack v. State*, 93 Wis.2d 287, 295-96, 286 N.W.2d 563 (1980); and *State v. Diehl*, 205 Wis.2d 1, 11, 555 N.W.2d 174 (1996) (The complaint need not allege the same crime for which the defendant was ultimately convicted, but must allege *a* crime).

allege a crime and therefore the conviction was void:

A complaint which charges no offense is jurisdictionally defective and void and the defect cannot be waived by a guilty plea; the court does not have jurisdiction. *State v. Lampe* (1965), 26 Wis. 2d 646, 648, 133 N. W. 2d 349; *Burkhalter v. State* (1971), 52 Wis. 2d 413, 424, 190 N. W. 2d 502. Nor can a void charge sustain a verdict or a sentence based on it. See *Howard v. State* (1909), 139 Wis. 529, 534, 121 N. W. 133; *Paxton v. Walters* (1951), 72 Ariz. 120, 231 Pac. 2d 458. While a verdict can aid the charge or information which is defective, indefinite but not void, a verdict cannot cure the absence in the information of a material element of the crime. 41 Am. Jur. 2d, *Indictments and Informations*, p. 1072, sec. 310; 42 C. J. S., *Indictments and Informations*, pp. 1350, 1351, sec. 319.

Champlain, at 871.

In *Lampe*, the defendant was charged with forgery contrary to Wis. Stat. § 943.38(1). *Lampe*, 26 Wis.2d at 648. Among other things, Wis. Stat. § 943.38(1) requires a falsely made or altered writing "so that it purports to have been made *by another*,...." *Id.*, at 649. The information alleged the check was "falsely purported to have been made by Emery Walker, contrary to sec. 943.38 (1) of the statutes" *Id.* Lampe argued the information failed to allege a crime because it did not allege "Emery Walker" was "another" person. "Emery Walker" could have been a fictitious or assumed name. *Id.*, at 650.

The court agreed with Lampe on the legal standards. If the "insufficiency" of the complaint "is of such a nature that no crime known to law has been alleged the defect is jurisdictional and is not waived by the plea." *Id.*, at 648. Moreover, Lampe's argument went "beyond a technical insufficiency of an information charging the crime and raises the question of whether the information charges any offense. If the defendant is correct that no offense is charged then the court had no jurisdiction to proceed to judgment." *Id.* Nonetheless, the court rejected Lampe's argument on the grounds that it didn't matter whether "Emery Walker" was fictitious or not, as long as there was an intent to defraud. *Id.*, at 650. The information, therefore, *did* allege a

crime known to law. While the defendant's argument was ultimately rejected, the decision illustrates how the factual allegations were vital to whether a charging document was sufficient to bestow subject matter jurisdiction in a particular case.

Another Wisconsin case refers to the factual allegations necessary to confer jurisdiction as "jurisdictional facts." *State v. Bratrud*, 204 Wis.2d 445, 555 N.W.2d 662 (Ct. App. 1996). As in *Lampe*, Bratrud had entered a no contest plea. On appeal, he claimed the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction because the information relied on a disputed fact, namely, whether the crime was committed in Wisconsin. Not surprisingly, the court of appeals rejected Bratrud's argument because whether disputed or not, the information alleged that the crime occurred in Wisconsin. *Id.* at 451. By pleading no contest Bratrud admitted, for jurisdictional purposes, "all the facts which are well-pleaded..." *Id.*, at 450. The circuit court thus "adjudicated" the necessary "jurisdictional facts when it accepted the plea and convicted Bratrud." *Id.*, at 451.

The requirement that all statutory elements be plead was somewhat qualified in *State v. Petrone*, 161 Wis.2d 530, 468 N.W.2d 676 (1991). Petrone was charged and convicted of three counts of sexual exploitation of children, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.203(2) (1987-88). On appeal, Petrone argued the complaint and information failed to allege scienter, a necessary element of the offense.⁴ Wis. Stat. § 940.203(2) (1987-88) does not contain scienter as an element, although the court agreed with the parties that scienter is a

Petrone referenced but did not expressly overrule *State v. Schneider*, 60 Wis.2d 563, 567, 211 N.W.2d 630 (1973), although it would be hard to reconcile the two cases. In *Schneider*, the defendant was charged with possession for sale of obscene material contrary to Wis. Stat. §944.21(1)(a). The complaint alleged that he "did feloniously have in his possession for sale obscene pictures...." A jury convicted. On appeal, Schneider argued the complaint failed to confer criminal jurisdiction because the offense requires scienter and the complaint failed to allege it. The attorney general confessed error, agreeing that "feloniously" did not equate to "intentionally." The court agreed, finding that "feloniously" did mean not "intentionally," and therefore the complaint failed to allege an "offense known to law." *Id.*, at 567. The proceedings, therefore, were "void ab initio." The judgment and sentence was vacated. *Id.*

constitutionally required. The jury was instructed on scienter. The court concluded the charging documents were not deficient and therefore jurisdiction was not lost. It saved the charging documents by announcing a "single rule" that would cover "all criminal cases in which a pleading fails to set forth all the elements of the crime…" *Id.*, at 557-58. A missing legal element is not fatal if: (1) the charging documents include "a correct citation to the applicable substantive criminal statute"; and, (2) the defendant cannot show he was prejudiced in any way. *Id.*, at 554, 557-58.

Petrone is distinguishable on several grounds.

First, *Petrone* does not address "jurisdictional facts" but statutory elements, and therefore has no bearing the problem here—i.e. the lack of any factual allegation that satisfies Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)2. Indeed, the complaint alleged a 20-year-old prior offense when a 10-year-old or less prior offense was necessary to support a criminal charge. The complaint not only failed to allege any facts which supported a criminal charge, it affirmatively alleged facts that contradict one.

Second, the complaint in this case did not include a "correct citation" to the applicable criminal statute. While it's true the substantive "offenses" under Wis. Stats. §§ 346.63(1)(a) & (b) pertain to either a civil or criminal violation, the reference to Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)2 and the criminal penalties contained therein are what make the charge criminal. Citation to Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)2 is clearly not correct because no criminal statute applied to these allegations.

Third, *Petrone*'s rule does not apply if the defendant can show prejudice from the omission. In this case, Giese was clearly prejudiced when he entered a plea to, and was convicted of, a totally unsupported criminal charge.

Petrone did not modify the essential requirement that a charging document must allege a crime, both factually and legally, in order for

the circuit court to obtain criminal subject matter jurisdiction. In fact, the Wisconsin Supreme Court cited both *Lampe* and *Champlain* with approval nearly ten years after *Petrone* was decided. See *Bush*, 2005 WI 103 at ¶¶16, 18.

In this case, the criminal complaint failed to confer criminal subject matter jurisdiction when it failed to allege a prior qualifying offense. Giese's March 22, 2009, OWI was not criminal offense unless, at a minimum, the "the total number of suspensions, revocations, and other convictions counted under s. 343.307(1) within a 10-year period, equal 2,...." (Emphasis added). Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)2 (2007-2008) (A:9): Anything less constituted a civil forfeiture. Wis. Stat. § 346.65(2)(am)1 (2007-2008) (A:9); see also Wis. Stat. § 939.12 (conduct punishable only by a forfeiture is not a crime).

Here the complaint alleged one prior offense which occurred on "12/18/1989 with offense date(s) of 12/04/1989...." (1:2; A:7). As the 1989 conviction predated charging in this case by nearly 20 years, the complaint, on its face, failed to allege a criminal offense. In other words, alleging the operation of a motor vehicle on a highway while under the influence of an intoxicant with a 20-year-old prior offense was not a *crime* known to law. By failing to allege a crime known to law, the circuit court never obtained criminal subject matter jurisdiction. As the circuit court never obtained criminal subject matter jurisdiction, it lacked authority to enter a judgment of conviction. The judgement of conviction is therefore void as a matter of law.

The trial court's analysis should be rejected as it confuses plenary subject matter jurisdiction with authority to act in a particular case. A circuit court with general "subject matter jurisdiction" may still lack the "competency" (or specific authority) to render a valid order or judgment of conviction. The circuit court's confusion is not surprising, as Wisconsin courts have continued to misapply these concepts. See *State v. Toliver*, 2014 WI 85, ¶37, 356 Wis. 2d 642, 851 N.W.2d 251, Abrahamson, dissenting ("Substantial confusion exists in the case law on the meaning of the terms "jurisdiction," "subject matter

jurisdiction," "jurisdictional error," and "competence" of the courts. The jurisprudence concerning subject matter jurisdiction and a circuit court's competence to exercise its subject matter jurisdiction is 'murky at best.' [citations omitted]." What is clear is that the "criminal subject matter jurisdiction" necessary to act in a particular case is conferred by a criminal complaint that alleges a crime and not, as the circuit court contends, a civil "offense." *Bush*, 2005 WI 103 at ¶¶16, 18. As the complaint fails to allege a crime, the conviction is void.

CONCLUSION

Giese's conviction for OWI second should be reversed and vacated.