RECEIVED 01-29-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appellate Case No. 2015AP001838-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

TIMOTHY A. GIESE,

Defendant-Appellant.

RESPONSE BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

On Appeal from the Brown County Circuit Court, the Honorable Thomas J. Walsh presiding Trial Court Case No. 09CT1159

> ERIC R. ENLI Assistant District Attorney State Bar No. 1020873

Brown County District Attorney's Office Post Office Box 23600 Green Bay, WI 54305-3600 (920) 448-4190 eric.enli@da.wi.gov

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

ISSUE PRESENTED

Is a criminal conviction for a second offense OWI void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction, where the prior OWI conviction had occurred more than 10 years earlier and the second offense should have been non-criminal?

The circuit court ruled it was not void, as circuit courts have subject matter jurisdiction over both criminal and civil OWI offenses.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The State of Wisconsin believes this is a one-judge case, in which the arguments can be adequately addressed in briefing and can be decided by straightforward application of law to the facts. Therefore, neither oral argument nor publication is requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The facts in this case are not contested, and the Court may accept the facts as set forth by Giese.

ARGUMENT

THE CIRCUIT COURT HAD SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION OVER GIESE'S OWI CASE REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE CHARGE WAS CRIMINAL OR CIVIL

A. Standard of Review.

The question of whether a circuit court has subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law. *State v. Schroeder*, 224 Wis.2d 706, 711, 593 N.W.2d 76, 79 (Ct. App. 1999). "The party claiming that a judgment is void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction has the burden of proving subject matter jurisdiction did not exist." *State ex rel. R.G. v. W.M.B.*, 159 Wis. 2d 662, 668, 465 N.W.2d 221, 224 (Ct. App. 1990).

B. A circuit court is never without subject matter jurisdiction.

"Circuit courts in Wisconsin are constitutional courts with general original subject matter jurisdiction over 'all matters civil and criminal." Village of Trempealeau v. Mikrut, 2004 WI 79, ¶ 1, 273 Wis.2d 76, 82, 681 N.W.2d 190, 192, quoting Wis. Const. art. VII, § 8. "Accordingly, a circuit court is **never** without subject matter jurisdiction." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Wisconsin Courts have articulated instances where subject matter jurisdiction is implicated "as otherwise provided at law." Wis. Const. art VII, § 8. "Federal law may confer exclusive jurisdiction over certain subject matters to the federal courts, precluding state court jurisdiction in those areas by operation of the Supremacy Clause." *Mikrut*, 2004 WI 79 at ¶ 8, n. 2. Additionally, a facially unconstitutional statute is null and void, and the Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to act under the statute. *In re Commitment of Bush*, 2005 WI 103 at ¶ 17, 283 Wis.2d 90, 103-104, 699 N.W.2d 80, 87. "If a statute is unconstitutional on its face, any action premised upon that statute fails to present any civil or criminal matter in the first instance." *Id.*

None of these examples would apply to the case at hand. Regardless of whether Giese was charged with a criminal or civil offense of operating while intoxicated, there is no doubt that the circuit court had jurisdiction over this type of offense.

C. The concept of *criminal* subject matter jurisdiction does not render Giese's OWI conviction void.

Giese argues that the circuit court lacked criminal subject matter jurisdiction, and thus the conviction was void. Giese cites numerous cases to support this position, but none are analogous to the issue before this court. For example, some of the cases cited by Giese actually dealt with the issue of whether scienter needed to be alleged in the complaint or information.

While Giese does cite some cases that called into question whether the underlying complaints or informations sufficiently set forth all the elements of the offenses charged,³ those cases are not applicable to Giese's

¹ If one attempts to follow Giese's argument by actually reading the cases he cites and quotes, it is rather difficult to follow along as there are at least 15 errors in his brief where cases are not cited accurately or correctly, and quotes not cited correctly or attributed to the correct case. The most glaring of these errors is Giese's repeated quotes from and citations to *State v. Dreske*, 88 Wis.2d 60, 276 N.W.2d 324 (Ct. App. 1979), for which he gives pinpoint citations of pages 27-30, even though, obviously, the case started at page 60 in the Wisconsin Reporter and page 324 in the North West Reporter.

² State v. Schneider, 60 Wis.2d 563, 211 N.W.2d 630 (1973), dealt with a charge of possession for sale of obscene material, and whether the complaint sufficiently alleged scienter. State v. Petrone, 161 Wis.2d 530, 468 N.W.2d 676 (1991), dealt with a charge of sexual exploitation of children, and whether the complaint and information needed to specifically allege scienter.

³ State v. Dreske, 88 Wis.2d 60, 276 N.W.2d 324 (Ct. App. 1979) (whether the facts alleged met the elements required for a violation of the Campaign Financing Act); *Champlain v. State*, 53 Wis.2d 751, 193 N.W.2d 751(1972) (whether the information

case, as the underlying complaint in Giese's case *did* set forth the elements for an offense known to law. "If a complaint fails to state an offense known at law, **no matter civil or criminal** is before the court, resulting in the court being without jurisdiction in the first instance." *Bush*, 2005 WI 103, ¶ 18 (emphasis added).

However the complaint in Giese's case did set forth the elements for an operating while intoxicated offense. There are two elements for the offense of OWI: (1) that person operated a motor vehicle on a highway, and (2) that at the time of such operation, the person was under the influence of an intoxicant. Both of these elements were set forth in the complaint in this case, and were supported by the facts set forth therein. Whether this OWI is a criminal offense or a civil offense, the complaint still set properly forth the elements of OWI, an offense known to law, and the circuit court therefore still had subject matter jurisdiction.

-

supported a charged offense of armed robbery, where the facts did not allege any force or imminent use of force in taking the property); *State v. Lampe*, 26 Wis.2d 646, 133 N.W.2d 349 (1965) (whether the facts alleged in the complaint supported the charged offense of forgery).

Giese argues that there should have been an additional element, to wit: failing allege a prior qualifying OWI offense. However, the case law does not support this argument.

"Section 346.63(1), Stats., defines the offense of driving while intoxicated; it does not state the sentencing penalty and it does not state the term of revocation. The penalty provisions, sec. 346.65, Stats., are entirely independent of the provision that defines the offense." State v. Banks, 105 Wis.2d 32, 42, 313 N.W.2d 67, 71 (1981), agreeing with the legal analysis set forth in an Attorney General's opinion. "The conduct prohibited by sec. 346.63(1), Stats., consists of (1) driving or operating a motor vehicle, and (2) doing so while under the influence of an intoxicant. It is the conduct of operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant which is prohibited by sec. 346.63(1). Nothing more need be proven to sustain a judgment of conviction against a motorist. These were the two elements of the offense contained in the jury instruction, and the jury was therefore properly instructed." State v. McAllister, 107 Wis.2d 532, 535, 319 N.W.2d 865, 867 (1982) (emphasis added).

What Giese claims to be an additional element is pertinent only to the penalties for the charged offense, not the elements needed to confer jurisdiction over him for the offense of OWI. "The penalties for violation of OMVWI are contained in sec. 346.65(2), Stats. Repeated violations are subject to increasingly harsher penalties. This graduated penalty structure is nothing more than a penalty enhancer similar to a repeater statute which does not in any way alter the nature of the substantive offense, i.e., the prohibited conduct, but rather goes only to the question of punishment." *Id*. at 538. In addition, the Wisconsin Supreme Court ruled in McAllister "that the fact of a prior violation, civil or criminal, is not an element of the **crime of OMVWI** either in the ordinary sense of the meaning of the word element, i.e., the incidents of conduct giving rise to the prosecution, or in the constitutional sense." *Id.* (emphasis added). "The defendant argues that since he cannot be convicted of this crime unless there has been a previous civil or criminal conviction of the same offense, the previous conviction is an element of the offense and must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt to the jury. We reject that argument and rule that the previous conviction of sec. 346.63(1), Stats., whether civil or criminal, is **not an element of the offense**." *Id*. (emphasis added).

D. Giese's interpretation would be contrary to the legislative purpose of Wisconsin's OWI laws.

To require an additional element in the complaint, thus allowing Giese to void his 2009 OWI conviction would allow a convicted drunken driver to avoid the long term consequence of that conviction, *i.e.*, the cumulative counting of the convictions. This would be inconsistent with Wisconsin jurisprudence that concludes that drunk driving laws "must be construed to further the legislative purpose." *State v. Neitzel*, 95 Wis.2d 191, 193, 289 N.W.2d 828, 830 (1980).

The most appropriate way to handle this situation would have been to amend the 2009 OWI conviction to a non-criminal offense, as both the State and circuit court offered to do. But Giese rejected that resolution. Therefore, the criminal conviction for a second offense OWI should remain in effect.

CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the State of Wisconsin respectfully requests that this court uphold Timothy A. Giese's conviction for OWI, and deny his appeal.